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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

NAPHTALI MILLER (B-41697),
Plaintiff,
15 C 6307

V.

DR. CATHERINE LARRY, SARA CHESCHAREK,
andBETH HART,

)
)
)
)
) Judge Gary Feinerman
)
)
)
Defendars. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Naphtali Miller,an Illinois prisoner, broughhispro se 42 U.S.C. § 1983 sudtgainst
Stateville Correctional Centenental health providei®r. Catherine LarrySara Chescharek, and
BethHart, allegingdeliberate indifference to his serious mediva¢ds. Doc. 12Defendants
have moveddr summary judgmentDocs. 80, 87. Miller did not respond, despié&ing been
givenample opportunity to do so. Docs. 93, 97. Defendants’ motiorggameed.

Background

Consistent with théocal rules, Defendants filddocal Rule 56.1(a)(3) stamerts of
undisputed factwith their summary judgment motien Docs. 83, 88With certain exceptions,
the relevant factual assertions in the Local Rule 56.1(a)(3) stateaitergvidentiary material in
the record and are supported by the cited mateBe N.D. Ill. L.R. 56.1(a) (“The statement
referred to in (3) shall consist of short numbered paragraphs, including withipa@agraph
specific references to the affidavits, parts of the record, and other supporter@imaelied upon
to support the facts set forth in that paragraphAlso consistent with the local les, Defendants
sened Miller with Local Rule 56.2 Noticesvhich explainwhat Local Rule 56.1 requires opeo
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se litigant opposing summary judgmeridocs. 84, 90.Miller did not file a response bridfpcal
Rule 56.1(b)(3)(B) responses to thacal Rule56.1(a)(3) statementsra Local Rule
56.1(b)(3)(C)statement of additional facts

“[A] district court is entitled to decide [a summary judgment] motion based oadiualf
record outlined in th [Local Rule 56.1] statementsKoszola v. Bd. of Educ. of Chi., 385 F.3d
1104, 1109 (7th Cir. 2004) (third alteration in original) (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted);see also Olivet Baptist Church v. Church Mut. Ins. Co., 672 F. App’x 607, 607 (7th Cir.
2017) (“The dstrict court treated most of theefendants] factual submissions asopposed,
becauségthe plaintiff] failed to contest them in the form required by Local Rule 56. 1. have
held that the district court is entitled to enforce that rule in precisely the waypitedfthe rule
in this litigation.”); Stevo v. Frasor, 662 F.3d 880, 886-87 (7th Cir. 2011) (“Because of the high
volume of summary judgment motions and the benefits of clear presemtttelavant evidence
and law, we have repeatedly held that district judges are entitled to insistboosnpliance
with local rules designed to promote the clarity of summary judgment filingatierson v. Ind.
Newspapers, Inc., 589 F.3d 357, 360 (7th Cir. 2009) (“We have repeatedly held that the district
court is within its discretion to strictly enforce compliance with its local rulesdegasummary
judgment motions.”)Ammons v. Aramark Unif. Servs,, Inc., 368 F.3d 809, 817 (7th Cir. 2004)
(“We have ...repeatedly held that a district court is entitled to expect strict camepliith Rule
56.1."). Miller’s pro se statusdoes not excuse him frofollowing Local Rule 56.1.See McNeil
v. United Sates, 508 U.S. 106, 113 (1993) (“[W]e have neveggested that procedural rules in
ordinary civil litigation should be interpreted so as to excuse mistakes by thogaeceed

without counsel.); Coleman v. Goodwill Indus. of Se. Wis,, Inc., 423 F. App’x 642, 643 (7th Cir.



2011) (“Though courts are solicitous of pro se litigants, they may nonetheless stqgctire
compliance with local rules.”Mlson v. Kautex, Inc., 371 F.App’x 663, 664 (7th Cir. 2010)
(“[S]trictly enforcing Local Rule 56.1 was well within the distrodurt’s discretion, even though
Wilsonis a pro se litigant.”) (citation omittedfady v. Sheahan, 467 F.3d 1057, 1061 (7th Cir.
2006) (“[E]venpro selitigants must follow rules of civil procedure.”).

Accordingly, the court will accept as true the tattassertions set forth in Defendsint
Local Rule 56.1(a)(3) statemenexcept wher¢he statement does not accurately reflect thel cite
material, and will viewthe facts and inferences therefrom in the light mostrédle to Miller
See N.D. llIl. L.R. 56.1(b)(3)(C) (“All material facts set forth in the statement required of the
moving party will be deemed to be admitted unless controverted by the statement of tivegoppos
party.”); Parrav. Neal, 614 F.3d 635, 636 (7th Cir. 201&go v. BP Prods. N. Am,, Inc., 589
F.3d 389, 393 (7th Cir. 2009)n accordance with [LocdRule 56.1(b)(3)(C)], the district court
justifiably deemed the factual assertions inBRule 56.1(a) Statement in support of its motion
for summary judgment admitted because Rao did not respond to the statei@ady," %67 F.3d
at 1061;Raymond v. Ameritech Corp., 442 F.3d 600, 608 (7th Cir. 2006). That said, the court is
mindful that “a nonmovant’s ... failure to comply with Local Rule 56.1 ... does
not ... automatically result in judgnmé for the movant. The ultimate burden of persuasion
remains with [the movants] to show that [they anefjtled to judgment as a matter of law.”
Raymond, 442 F.3d at 608 (citations omitted). The court thilisrecite the facts in Defendants’
Local Rule 56.1(4B) statemers, as modified whenecessary where the statement inaccurately
characterizes the cited material, and then determine whether, on those factsasfered

entitled to summary judgment.



Miller has been incarcerated in thienbis Departmenbf Corrections since 2013Doc.

88 at 1 1. The events giving rise tg hlaims occurred when he was housed at Stateville
Correctional Centan Fall 2014. Id. at{ 2. Hart, a licensed clinical social worker, was assigned
to work with Miller. Doc. 83 at § 2.Dr. Larry and Cheschaelso worked amental heah
providers at StatevilleDoc. 88 at 11 4-5.

Miller suffers fran bipolar disorder and schizophreniBoc. 83at § 7. His conditions
were treated with monthly psychotherapy sessionsatsalvith Prozac and Rispeadl 1d. at 7.
In Septembe2014, Millerrefused to take those medications about 85% of the time bebause
“felt [he] didn’t need them.”ld. at § 8;Doc. 88 at {{ 910 (alteration in original)

On September 18/Jiller swallowed“a whole bunch of” ibuprofen and Robaxin,
approximately tempills each which had beeprescribed for pain resultinigom playing
basketball 1d. at § 6;Doc. 83 at § 9.Miller explainedhe took thae pills:

because had a treatment plan with Dr. Larry and Ms. Hart that if | didn’t cut

myself or go on suicide watch that they would transfer me to another facility

which was Big Muddy [Correctional Center], and | did all those things that |

was supposed to do and when inegatime for me to get transferrabdey

didn’t transfer me. They denied it, and | felt that the mental health people lied

to me, so | was upset and | was depresaed | swallowed the pills, and tried

to commit suicide.
Doc. 881 at 16-17. That dayHart moved Millerto thehealth care unit'snfirmary andplaced
him on suicide watch.Doc. 83 at {1 10 Suicide watchconsists of several levels: -B@inute
watch; 154minute watch;10-minute watch; and continuous watch, where a prison employee

watches thdnmate continuously and notes the inmatsivity every five minutes Doc. 88

M9 13-14 see also Doc. 833 at 238.



On October 2, Millekvas released from the health care and placed ira crisis watch
cell in X-House with 15-minute checkfoc. 83 at | 11.Before being placed &-House Miller
was given a packet of his personal property, which included mail that containedinadout
standard stapledd. atf12. Miller removed the staples and hid them from pristaiff. 1d. at
1 14. $aff did not notce Miller remove the staples, and he told no one about theénat T 13.

That day, Miller used one of the staples to scratch his left arm, and prisamositzdtl
duringa 15minute checkhatMiller hadscratched hisrm with an unknown géct Id. at § 15
Thescratcheswere not too deep .just enough to draw some bloodDoc. 88 atf 20.
According toMiller, the scratches could be described as “surface scratcliest  21.He was
seen by a nurse amy either Dr. Larry oilChescharek, and was elevated @aminutewatch
status.Doc. 83 at 1 15.Miller did not tellmentl health workers about the stapléd. at I 20

On October 3, Milleagain scrateedhimselfon the arnwith a staple.Doc. 88 at  27.
Like the scratchekom the previous dayhe October 3cratchesvere not deep and could be
characterized as surface scratchiesat 29 A medical officialvisited him andas on October
2, applied a bandid; a visit from a mental health providésllowed. Id. at 11 3631. Miller does
not recall what he told the mental health worker, but he remembetsetdat not reveahat he
had staplesld. at {1 32. According to the mental health workéitler complained: “I don’t want
to be over here ..1's too loud, hese guys yelling.. | want to go back to the hospital. I'm going
to keep on until | go back.” Doc. 83a874; seealso Doc. 83 afff 16 Reporting that Millemwas
“mostly cooperative ahexpressivé,Doc. 83-3 at 74, the workerassessment was thdiller

was ‘scratching himself for the ppiose of secondary gairboc. 83at § 17



On October 6, Millemgainscratched himselfDoc. 88 at 1 34. e scratcheagainwere
surface scratchedd. at  35.He was given gauze tlean up the blood and arztaid. Id. at
1 36. The bleeding hadtopped i the timehe applied the bardid. Id. at § 37.

On October 7, Millemet with Chescharek drtold her: “I'm going to finish it tonight,”
and further indicated that “he was going to do what he hastm gkt what he wants.” Do83
at 121. Chescharek then plagéiller on continuous wah, and the watclogscontain entries
reportinghis actions every five minutesd. at 1 2223; Doc. 83-3 at 271-404.

On October 9, while on continuous watch, Elithgain scratchedis arm with a staple
Doc. 83 at 1 24 Again, the scratches were surface scratchesagaith there was bloodoc. 88
at M 41-42. No bandage was needasithe scratchestopped bleeding after being wiped with a
tissue. Id. at 143. Miller met with a mental health provider tltgty, but does not recall which
one. Id. atf 44. His continuous watekemained in placeld. at Y 45.

On October 10, Millethreatenedo reopen his scratch wounddoc. 83 atf 25. A
mental healtiprofessional \8ited that dayId. at § 26. (Amental health provider visited Miller
every day he was in-Xlouse. Ibid.) OnOctober 11 Miller again scratobd himself in the same
manner. He again described the scratches as surface scratcdessandt know if they drew
blood. Doc. 88 at 1 46-47.

All told, Miller scratched himselbetween October 2, 2014 and October 11, 2014, and at
no other time.ld. at  52. He inflicted no other wounds on himself during that perilatl at
1 53. At no time did Millertell anyone how he was injuring himsedhd he aver revealed that

he had stapledd. at 11 5455.



Miller was transferred to Pontiac Correctional @emater that monthld. at 49. He
was taken off suicide watch when he transferdedat 9 58. On November 1se submittd his
only grievance pertaing to the claims in this suithé grievancetaed that Stateville’s mental
health care workers never shook dows ¢ell to search for stapletd. at §156-57.

Discussion

Miller alleges that Defendants acted with deliberate indifference to his madmddoy
failing to prevent him from harminigimself, primarily by not moving him out of X-House and by
not searching his cefbr staples A prisoner bringing 8 1983claim for denial of medical and
mental health care “must meet both an objective and a subjective compdpiéntah ex rel.
Hamilton v. Cnty. of Madison, 746 F.3d 766, 775-76 (7th Cir. 2014jirst, “the harm that befell
the prisoner must be objectively, sufficiently serious and a substantial riskaiohas health or
safety.” Collinsv. Seeman, 462 F.3d 757, 760 (7th Cir. 2006). Second, the prisoner must prove
that “the individual defendants were deliberately indéfe to the substantiakk.” 1bid.

As to the first element, the court will assume without deciding that Miller’s inflicting mild
seltharm with a staple-when considered in light of his swallowiagproximately twenty
ibuprofen and Robaxin on September 18, 2014, and his October 7, 2014 threat to “finish it
tonight"—qualifies asan objectively serious risk of harngee Rice exrel. Ricev. Corr. Med.

Servs, 675 F.3d 650, 665 (7th Cir. 2012)P]rison officials have an obligation to intervene when
they know a prisoner suffei®m seltdestructive tendencig} Mclntosh v. Wexford Health

Sources, Inc., 2017 WL 1067782, at *4 (S.D. Illl. Mar. 21, 2017) (“Suicide, attempted suicide and
other acts of selfiarm clearly pose a ‘serious’ risk to an inmate’s health and safety, and may

provide the foundation for deliberate indifference to medical needs and failuredot mtatms.”)



(citations omitted)Granados v. Rasmussen, 2015 WL 6966041, at *3 (E.D. Wis. Nov. 10, 3)1
(holding, on a motion to dismisthatan inmate’s deeputs to the insides of his arntalified as
asufficiently serious condition)This assumption isound given the Stateville medical providers’
determination that Miller was a suicide riskee Edwardsv. Shyder, 478 F.3d 827, 830-31 (7th
Cir. 2007) (holdinghata condition iobjectivelysufficiently serious if it has “been diagnosed by
a physician as mandating treatmergtifation omitted)

As tothe second elementowever, naeasonableyry could conclude thddefendants
acted with deliberate indifferenc&he subjective element requires a sufficiently culpable state of
mind, “something akin to criminal recklessnesbldrfleet v. Webster, 439 F.3d 392, 397 (7th Cir.
2006)(citation omitted). Neither medicalatpractice, nor negligence, nor even gross gegle
suffices Johnson v. Doughty, 433 F.3d 1001, 1013 (7th Cir. 2006)or fnedicaltreatmento
qualify as deliberatg indifferent, the treatmentust have been “so inadequate that it
demonstrated an absence of professional judgment, that is, that no minimallyesampet
professional would have so responded under those circumsta@algnon v. Milwaukee
Cnty., 163 F.3d 982, 989 (7th Cir. 1998). Put another waytreatment must have béso far
afield of accepted professional standards as to raise the inference that it wagallyt lsased on
a medical judgment.’Norfleet, 439 F.3d at 396In cases addressing suicidek, deliberate
indifference exists when an official is “subjectivewareof the significant likelihood that an
inmate may imminently take his own life,’ yet ‘fail[s] to take reasonable stepevent the
inmate from perfornmg the act.” Pittman, 746 F.3d at 775-7@&lteration in original{quoting
Callins, 462 F.3d at 761xee also Rice, 675 F.3d at 682, 685 (noting that the record did not show

thatprisonmedical staffignored a known medical risk in caring for” the plaintiff).



No rational jury could findhat Defendants deliberately disregarded Miller’s-Balfmng
behavia or the possibility that he mighttempt suicide After Miller swallowed “a bunig” of
ibuprofen and Robaxin, he was placedsaitide watch.After the first staplescratcling episode
on October 2a medical technician was contacted for the physgary and amental health
professional was summoned. Followihg menthhealth provider’s visjtMiller’s suicide watch
was elevatedfom a 15minutewatchto a 10minute watch Although Miller continued to scratch
himsef with a staple, eachpiso@ resulted iiminor or nobleeding—necesitatingat most a
bandaid—for which he received bbtmedical and psychological attentiomhere is no
indication in the recorthatbetween October 2 and 7, 20Miller harmed himselfwith anything
more than “surace scratches.And on October 7, whehe threatenetb “finish it tonight;

Miller’ s suicide watch was elevaterldontinuous watch, which continued for ten days.

Although Miller clains that the Defendants should haearshed his cednd/or moved
him back to the health care ufidm X-House,"mere dissatisfaction or disagreement with a
doctor’s course of treatment is generally insufficient” to state a constaitttam. Johnson,

433 F.3d at 1013. “There is not one ‘propedy o practice medicine in a prison, but rather a
range of acceptable courses based engling standards in the field. .[T]he Constitution is not
a medical code that mandates specifitreatment’ Jackson v. Kotter, 541 F.3d 688, 697—98
(7th Cir. 2008) ¢itations omitted) On the summary judgment record, it is clggatMiller’s
claimthathis behaior warraned dfferent cares nothing more than disagreemergbout the
course of treatmeminplemened by Defendants. But “mere disagreerfléms not the same as
deliberate indifferenceHarper v. Santos, 847 F.3d 923, 926-27 (7th Cir. 2017). No reasonable

jury could find deliberate indifference on these fa@s=e Jacoby v. Baldwin Cnty., 596 F. App’x



757, 764-65 (11th Cir. 2014) (holding that continugsychiatric medications and elewey
suicide watcHor a pretrial detainee who cut his throat and swallowed a razor bessnw
acceptable course of treatment, #mat allegations that additional measusbould have been
taken indicated at ost a difference of opiniomot deliberate indifferengeBrown, 2017 WL
395229, at *3 (sumary judgment granted whepeison officials kept an inmate on continuous
suicide watch for scratching episodes similar to Miller’s)
Conclusion

For theforegoingreasons, Defendants’ summary judgment motayeggranted, and
judgment will be entered in their favolf. Miller wishes to appeal, he must file a notice of appeal
with this court within thity daysfrom the entry of judgment and pay the $505.00 filirey féee
Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(1). Undeederal Rule of Appellate Proced@4(a)(1) and 28 U.S.C.
8 1915, Miller may move this court to allow him to proce®tbrma pauperis on appeal, which
will allow him to pay that fee in installments. The fee musphid regardless of the appeal’s
outcome; however, if Miller is successful, he may be able to shift the costendaeits.See
Fed. R. App. P. 39(a)(3Thomasv. Zatecky, 712 F.3d 1004, 1005 (7th Cir. 2013) (“A litigant
who proceedsn forma pauperis still owes the feeslf he wins, the fees are shifted to the
adversary as part of the costs; if he loses, the fees are payable like amebtlig If the appeal
does not succeebliller could be assess a “strike” under 28 U.S.C. § 1915(g). Ifréspner
accumulates three “strikes” because three federal cases or appeals have been dismissed as
frivolous or malicious, or for failure to state a claim, the prisoner may not fileisappeal a
judgment in federal court without prepaying the filing fee, unless he is innemndanger of

serious physical injurySee 28 U.S.C. § 1915(Q).
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Miller need not bring a motion to reconsider this court’s ruling to preserve hikaa@pe
rights. However, if he wishes the court to reconsider its judgment, he may fitca mnder
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e) or 60(b). Any Rule 59(e) motion must be filad 28
days of the entry of judgmengee Fed. R. Civ. P. 59(e). The time to file a Rule 59(e) motion
cannot be extendedsee Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(b)(2). A timely Rule 59(e) motion suspends the
deadline for filing an appeal until the Rule 59(e) motion is ruled ugeaFed. R. App. P.
4(a)(4)(A)(iv). A Rule 60(b) motion must be filed within a reasonable time and&kirgerelief
under Rule 60(b)(1), (2), or (3), must be filed no more than one year after entrywddhesnt
or order. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(c)(1). The time to file a Rule 60(b) motion cannot be extended.
See Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(b)(2). A Rule 60(b) motion suspends the deadlifienfgran appeal until

the motion is ruled upon only if the motion is filed within 28 days of the entry of judgrSeat.

17—

United States District Judge

Fed. R. App. P. 4(a)(4)(A)(vi).

September@, 2017
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